



# CCEA GCE Specification in Spanish

For first teaching from September 2016 For first award of AS level in Summer 2017 For first award of A level in Summer 2018 Subject Code: 5750

# Contents

1	Introduction	3
1.1	Aims	4
1.2	Key features	4
1.3	Prior attainment	5
1.4	Classification codes and subject combinations	5
2	Specification at a Glance	6
3	Subject Content	9
3.1	Unit AS 1: Speaking	11
3.2	Unit AS 2: Listening, Reading and Use of Language	13
3.3	Unit AS 3: Extended Writing	15
3.4	Unit A2 1: Speaking	16
3.5	Unit A2 2: Listening and Reading	18
3.6	Unit A2 3: Extended Writing	20
4	Scheme of Assessment	21
4.1	Assessment opportunities	21
4.2	Assessment objectives	21
4.3	Assessment objective weightings	21
4.4	Quality of written communication	22
4.5	Synoptic assessment at A2	22
4.6	Higher order thinking skills	22
4.7	Reporting and grading	22
5	Grade Descriptions	24
6	Guidance on Assessment	28
6.1	Unit AS 1: Speaking	28
6.2	Unit AS 2: Listening, Reading and Use of Language	29
6.3	Unit AS 3: Extended Writing	29
6.4	Unit A2 1: Speaking	29
6.5	Unit A2 2: Listening and Reading	30
6.6	Unit A2 3: Extended Writing	30
7	Links and Support	31
7.1	Support	31
7.2	Curriculum objectives	31
7.3	Examination entries	32
7.4	Equality and inclusion	32
7.5	Contact details	34

Appendix 1 Unit AS 1 Sample Content for Presentation	35
Appendix 2 Unit AS 3 Content for Extended Writing	36
<b>Appendix 3</b> Unit A2 1 Content for Introduction and Discussion	37
Appendix 4 Unit A2 3 Content for Extended Writing	38
Appendix 5 AS and A Level Grammar and Structures List	39

Subject Code	5750
QAN AS Level	601/8397/4
QAN A Level	601/8398/6
A CCEA Publication © 2016	

This specification is available online at <u>www.ccea.org.uk</u>

# **1** Introduction

This specification sets out the content and assessment details for the Advanced Subsidiary (AS) and the Advanced GCE courses in Spanish. First teaching is from September 2016.

Students can take:

- the AS course units as a final qualification; or
- the AS course units plus the A2 units for a full GCE A level qualification.

We assess the AS units at a standard appropriate for students who have completed the first part of the full course. A2 units have an element of synoptic assessment (to assess students' understanding of the subject as a whole), as well as more emphasis on assessment objectives that reflect higher order thinking skills.

The full Advanced GCE award is based on students' marks from the AS (40 percent) and the A2 (60 percent). The guided learning hours for this specification, as for all GCEs, are:

- 180 hours for the Advanced Subsidiary level award; and
- 360 hours for the Advanced level award.

We will make the first AS awards for the specification in 2017 and the first A level awards in 2018. The specification builds on the broad objectives of the Northern Ireland Curriculum.

If there are any major changes to this specification, we will notify centres in writing. The online version of the specification will always be the most up to date; to view and download this please go to <u>www.ccea.org.uk</u>

## 1.1 Aims

This specification aims to encourage students to:

- develop an enthusiasm for and an understanding of the Spanish language and culture in a variety of contexts and genres;
- communicate confidently, clearly and effectively in the Spanish language for a range of purposes;
- develop knowledge and understanding of societal, political and cultural issues in Spanish-speaking countries or communities;
- draw together different areas of linguistic competence, skills and understanding;
- develop higher order thinking skills, for example independent learning and analytical and evaluative thinking;
- carry out research and present their findings through multimedia presentations;
- develop advanced study skills that help them prepare for third level education;
- provide extended responses and evidence of quality of written communication;
- engage critically with intellectually stimulating films, texts and other materials; and
- demonstrate that they understand and can use Spanish at a high level to discuss and reflect on aspects of society, politics and culture.

## 1.2 Key features

The following are important features of this specification.

- There are six assessment units in this specification, three at AS level and three at A2:
  - Unit AS 1: Speaking;
  - Unit AS 2: Section A Listening, Section B Reading and Section C Use of Language;
  - Unit AS 3: Extended Writing;
  - Unit A2 1: Speaking;
  - Unit A2 2: Section A Listening and Section B Reading; and
  - Unit A2 3: Extended Writing.
- This specification allows students to develop their language skills, knowledge and understanding of societal, political and cultural issues in Spanish-speaking countries or communities.
- It provides opportunities for students to engage in independent research into aspects of Spanish society and culture that are of personal interest and to use multimedia to present their findings.
- Assessment at A2 includes more question types, more demanding evaluative tasks, extended writing, and synoptic assessment that encourages students to develop their understanding of the subject as a whole.
- There is a varied choice of texts.
- It gives students a sound basis for progression to higher education through skills development.
- A range of support is available, including specimen assessment materials and exemplars along with teacher guidance and support.

## 1.3 **Prior attainment**

The specification builds on the knowledge, understanding and skills developed in GCSE Spanish. We recommend that students intending to study GCE Spanish have already achieved a good GCSE standard or an equivalent level of qualification.

## 1.4 Classification codes and subject combinations

Every specification has a national classification code that indicates its subject area. The classification code for this qualification is 5750.

Please note that if a student takes two qualifications with the same classification code, universities and colleges that they apply to may take the view that they have achieved only one of the two GCEs. The same may occur with any two GCE qualifications that have a significant overlap in content, even if the classification codes are different. Because of this, students who have any doubts about their subject combinations should check with the universities and colleges that they would like to attend before beginning their studies.

There are no prohibited entry combinations for GCE Spanish.

# 2 Specification at a Glance

The table below summarises the structure of the AS and A level courses:

Content	Assessment	Weightings
AS 1:	AS 1: Speaking	30% of AS level
Speaking	Question 1: students give a presentation based on an AS level theme related to an aspect of a Spanish-speaking country or community. (approximately 3 mins)	12% of A level
	Question 2: conversation (approximately 8 mins)	
	Total time: 11 mins	
AS 2:	AS 2: Section A – Listening	40% of AS level
Listening [A], Reading [B] and Use of Language [C]	Students answer <b>two</b> sets of questions based on <b>two</b> discrete passages recorded on disk.	16% of A level
	Recording 1: students answer in Spanish. Recording 2: students answer in English. (40 mins)	
	AS 2: Section B – Reading	
	Question 1: students answer <b>one</b> set of questions in Spanish based on <b>one</b> passage.	
	Question 2: students translate a passage from Spanish into English. (50 mins)	
	AS 2: Section C – Use of Language	
	Questions 1, 2, 3 and 4: students complete a series of short grammatical and lexical exercises.	
	Question 5: students translate short sentences from English into Spanish. (30 mins)	
	Total time: 2 hours	

Content	Assessment	Weightings
AS 3: Extended	AS 3: Extended Writing	30% of AS level
Writing	Students write one essay in Spanish in response to a set film or literary text.	12% of A level
	Total time: 1 hour	AS: 40% of A level
A2 1:	A2 1: Speaking	18% of A level
Speaking	<ul> <li>Question 1: students introduce and discuss one individual research project based on either:</li> <li>a cultural aspect of a Spanish-speaking country or community;</li> <li>a historical period from the twentieth century of a Spanish-speaking country or community; or</li> <li>a region of a Spanish-speaking country or community.</li> <li>(approximately 6 mins)</li> <li>Question 2: conversation (approximately 9 mins)</li> <li>Total time: 15 mins</li> </ul>	

Content	Assessment	Weightings
A2 2: Listening [A] and Reading [B]	<ul> <li>A2 2: Section A – Listening</li> <li>Students answer two sets of questions based on two discrete passages recorded on disk.</li> <li>Recording 1: students answer in Spanish. Recording 2: students answer in English. (45 mins)</li> <li>A2 2: Section B – Reading</li> <li>Students answer two sets of questions and complete one summary exercise and one translation exercise.</li> <li>Question 1: students complete a gap-filling exercise in Spanish. Question 2: students answer a set of questions in Spanish based on one passage. Question 3: students read a passage in Spanish and summarise it in English. Question 4: students translate a passage from English into Spanish. (2 hours)</li> <li>Total time: 2 hours 45 mins</li> </ul>	24% of A level
A2 3: Extended Writing	A2 3: Extended Writing Students write one essay in Spanish in response to a set literary text. Total time: 1 hour	18% of A level A2: 60% of A level

# 3 Subject Content

Students develop knowledge and understanding of themes relating to the society and culture, past and present, of a country or community where the Spanish language is spoken.

This course has six units: three at AS level and three at A2. This section sets out the content and learning outcomes for each unit.

GCE Spanish gives students the opportunity to explore two broad areas of interest. These are:

- social trends and issues; and either
- political culture, intellectual culture or artistic culture.

Students explore the areas of interest by studying four themes:

- Relationships (AS);
- Culture and Lifestyle (AS);
- Young People in Society (A2); and
- Our Place in a Changing World (A2).

#### **AS** level

#### Relationships

Students have the opportunity to understand and explore these topics/issues in Spanish:

- different family structures;
- roles, responsibilities and relationships within families;
- challenges for families;
- intergenerational issues; and
- influences on young people, for example peers, family and friends.

#### **Culture and Lifestyle**

Students have the opportunity to understand and explore these topics/issues in Spanish:

- physical well-being, for example diet or exercise;
- risk-taking behaviour, for example smoking, alcohol and drugs or extreme sports;
- dealing with stress and challenges, for example school or examinations;
- hobbies and interests, for example sport or music;
- the arts, film, fashion and design;
- social media and new technology; and
- holidays, festivals and tourism.

## A2

#### Young People and Society

Students have the opportunity to understand and explore these topics/issues in Spanish:

- part-time jobs;
- education and employment;
- career planning aspirations and/or intentions;
- young people and democracy;
- European citizenship advantages, disadvantages and opportunities; and
- societal attitudes and young people.

#### Our Place in a Changing World

Students have the opportunity to understand and explore these topics/issues in Spanish:

- equality/inequality and discrimination/prejudice;
- poverty at home and abroad causes, consequences and measures to combat it;
- immigration and emigration causes, benefits and related issues;
- multicultural society and cultural identity benefits and challenges;
- causes, consequences and resolution of conflict; and
- sustainable living and environmental issues.

## 3.1 Unit AS 1: Speaking

This unit has **two** elements:

- a prepared presentation is based on an AS level theme related to an aspect of a Spanish-speaking country or community; and
- a general conversation relating to the AS level themes.

Students make their presentation and converse in Spanish. An external visiting examiner assesses the speaking elements, which are recorded for monitoring and scrutiny purposes.

#### Assessment

Content	Learning Outcomes
<b>Speaking</b> Students deliver a presentation, in Spanish, based on an AS theme related to an aspect of life and culture in a Spanish-speaking country or community, followed by a general conversation.	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>express information, facts and ideas and justify opinions in Spanish;</li> <li>understand and apply accurately the grammatical system and a range of structures;</li> <li>adapt spoken and written language appropriately for different situations and purposes; and</li> <li>speak knowledgeably about the topic that they have researched for their presentation.</li> </ul>

#### Presentation

The presentation lasts **three** minutes and is conducted in Spanish. The student chooses and prepares the topic from the AS themes. For their presentation, students should speak knowledgeably about the aspect of the Spanish-speaking country or community that they have researched.

Students must prepare a **Summary Sheet** with approximately three to five headings outlining their presentation. Students **must not** choose a topic for their AS 1 presentation that relates to the set work that they studied for the AS 3 Extended Writing examination. Teachers **must** authenticate this on the **Summary Sheet** by specifying the set work and stating that students will not use the topic for A2 1 Introduction and Discussion as the AS 1 topic for the set works they study for Unit AS 3 and Unit A2 3. Centres **must** submit the **Summary Sheet** to CCEA by the deadline set.

Students must also complete a **Preparation Sheet**, of up to 60 words, for their presentation. The centre will keep this to give to the visiting examiner on the day of the examination.

Students will have a copy of their **Preparation Sheet** during the examination. They may carry out their presentation supported by artefacts or technology such as a PowerPoint presentation. Students can only use the wording from their **Preparation Sheet** in their PowerPoint presentation. The examination focuses solely on verbal communication and students' linguistic competence. The presentation is assessed according to the AO4 criterion.

See Appendix 1: Unit AS 1 Sample Content for Presentation.

#### Conversation

The conversation lasts approximately **eight** minutes. Students converse in Spanish about aspects of the themes at a level appropriate for AS. The conversation is assessed according to the AO1 and AO3 criteria.

## 3.2 Unit AS 2: Listening, Reading and Use of Language

This unit has **three** sections.

#### Unit AS 2: Section A – Listening

This section lasts 40 minutes. The listening exercise at AS level contains **two discrete** audio passages on **two** topics chosen from the themes. Recordings may be authentic sources such as announcements, news items, talks, presentations and discussions. Each recording lasts approximately **two** minutes and has its own set of questions. The recordings are on a disk. Students have full control over the recording and the playback facility.

Recording 1: students respond, in Spanish, to questions in Spanish. Recording 2: students respond, in English, to questions in English.

The responses are assessed according to the AO1 criteria only.

Students break for **15 minutes after Section A to allow time for moving to another room before Sections B and C begin**.

Sections B and C last a total of 1 hour 20 minutes.

#### Unit AS 2: Section B – Reading

This section has a reading comprehension exercise and a translation from Spanish into English.

Students should spend approximately 50 minutes on this section.

At AS level, the passage for the reading examination is drawn from sources such as magazines, newspapers, reports, books or other forms of extended writing that relate to the themes.

In Question 1, students respond, in Spanish, to a set of questions in Spanish. It is assessed according to the AO2 criterion.

Question 2 is a short translation exercise. Students translate a passage (of approximately 130 words) from Spanish into English. The passage for the translation is drawn from sources such as magazines, newspapers, reports, books or other forms of extended writing related to the AS themes. It is assessed according to the AO2 criterion and takes account of the students' ability to transfer meaning into accurate English.

#### Unit AS 2: Section C – Use of Language

Students should spend approximately 30 minutes on this section. Questions 1, 2, 3 and 4 involve a series of short grammatical and lexical exercises.

In Question 5, students translate short sentences from English into Spanish. This section is assessed according to the AO3 criterion.

#### Assessment

Content	Learning Outcomes
Listening Students answer two questions based on recordings on disk.	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>understand, infer meaning and draw conclusions from a variety of spoken sources covering different contexts, registers, styles and genres;</li> </ul>
<b>Reading</b> Students answer <b>one</b> set of questions based on a written passage.	<ul> <li>adapt spoken and written language appropriately for different situations and purposes;</li> <li>understand, infer meaning and draw conclusions from a variety of written texts (including authentic sources) covering different contexts, registers, styles and genres;</li> </ul>
<b>Translation</b> Students complete <b>one</b> translation from Spanish to English.	<ul> <li>transfer meaning from Spanish into English;</li> <li>express information, facts and ideas and justify opinions in written Spanish; and</li> </ul>
Use of Language Students complete a series of grammatical and lexical exercises including translating short sentences from English to Spanish.	<ul> <li>understand and apply accurately the grammatical system and a range of structures.</li> </ul>

## 3.3 Unit AS 3: Extended Writing

This is a written essay response in Spanish based on the study of **one** set work. Each work has two open-ended question options. Students answer **one** question. Students should demonstrate their knowledge of the work they have studied. The response is assessed according to the AO2, AO4 and AO3 criteria.

#### Time: 1 hour

#### Assessment

Content	Learning Outcomes
Film:	Students should be able to:
Zambrano: Solas	<ul> <li>develop knowledge and understanding of aspects of Spanish culture and society or a Spanish-speaking country or community;</li> </ul>
or	
Cuerda: La lengua de las mariposas	<ul> <li>express information, facts and ideas in written Spanish and justify opinions through the study of a set film or a literary text;</li> </ul>
or	<ul> <li>demonstrate their understanding and knowledge of the</li> </ul>
Mañas: <i>El Bola</i>	work in Spanish; and
OR	<ul> <li>apply grammatical structures accurately.</li> </ul>
Literary text:	
Esquivel: Como	
agua para	
chocolate	

## 3.4 Unit A2 1: Speaking

This unit has **two** elements:

- an introduction (1 minute) and discussion (5 minutes) based on an individual research project; and
- a general conversation (9 minutes) that focuses on the A level themes at a level appropriate to A2.

An external visiting examiner assesses the speaking elements, which are recorded for monitoring and scrutiny purposes.

Students deliver their introduction, discussion and conversation in Spanish.

#### Introduction and Discussion

Students must prepare a **Summary Sheet** with approximately five headings outlining their research. Students **must not** choose a topic for their introduction and discussion that relates to the AS 1 topic or the set works studied for AS 3 and A2 3. Teachers **must** authenticate this on the **Summary Sheet**. Centres **must** submit this to CCEA by the deadline set.

The introduction and discussion are assessed according to the AO4 and AO3 criteria. Students may support their introduction and discussion with artefacts, but they will only be marked on their verbal communication and linguistic competence.

See Appendix 3: Unit A2 1 Content for Introduction and Discussion.

#### Conversation

The conversation lasts **nine** minutes and is based on the themes studied at A2. It may also incorporate AS themes, where appropriate. The conversation is assessed according to the AO1 and AO3 criteria.

#### Assessment

Content	Learning Outcomes
<b>Speaking</b> Students deliver an introduction to their individual research project followed by a discussion on this topic, and then a general conversation.	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>understand, infer meaning and draw conclusions from a variety of spoken sources covering different contexts, registers and styles;</li> <li>express information, facts and ideas and justify opinions in spoken Spanish;</li> <li>understand and accurately apply the grammatical system and a wide range of structures;</li> <li>adapt spoken and written language appropriately for different situations and purposes; and</li> <li>speak knowledgeably about the topic that they have researched.</li> </ul>

## 3.5 Unit A2 2: Listening and Reading

#### Unit A2 2: Section A – Listening

This section lasts 45 minutes.

Students answer **two** sets of questions based on **two** audio passages recorded on disk.

The content of the listening extracts is based on the A level themes and may consist of authentic audio sources such as announcements, news items, talks, presentations and discussions. Listening is assessed according to the AO1 criterion.

Recording 1: students respond, in Spanish, to questions in Spanish. Recording 2: students respond, in English, to questions in English.

Students break for 15 minutes after Section A to allow for moving to another room before Section B begins.

#### Unit A2 2: Section B – Reading

This section lasts 2 hours.

The stimulus material for the reading examination and the translation exercise is drawn from sources such as magazines, newspapers, reports, books or other forms of extended writing relating to the A level themes.

Reading is assessed according to the AO2 criterion.

The translation is assessed according to the AO3 criterion.

Students complete four tasks:

- Question 1 is a gap-filling exercise in Spanish.
- Question 2 is a set of questions that students respond to in Spanish.
- Question 3 is a passage in Spanish that students read and summarise in English using approximately 100 words.
- Question 4 is a passage of approximately 130 words that students translate from English into Spanish.

#### Assessment

Content	Learning Outcomes
Listening Students answer two questions based on two discrete passages recorded on disk.	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>understand, infer meaning and draw conclusions from a variety of spoken sources covering different contexts, registers, styles and genres;</li> <li>adapt spoken and written language appropriately for different situations and purposes;</li> </ul>
<b>Reading</b> Students answer <b>two</b> sets of questions and	<ul> <li>understand, infer meaning and draw conclusions from a variety of written texts (including authentic sources) covering different contexts, registers, styles and genres;</li> </ul>
complete <b>one</b> summary exercise and <b>one</b> translation	<ul> <li>summarise information from written sources, report key points and subject matter in writing;</li> </ul>
exercise from English into	<ul> <li>transfer meaning from English into Spanish; and</li> </ul>
Spanish.	<ul> <li>understand and accurately apply the grammatical system and a range of structures.</li> </ul>

## 3.6 Unit A2 3: Extended Writing

This is a written essay response in Spanish based on **one** set literary text. Each literary text has two open-ended question options. Students answer **one** question. Students should be able to demonstrate knowledge of the literary text they have studied and a capacity for critical thinking by using these skills as appropriate:

- developing arguments;
- presenting views, opinions and justifications;
- analysing critically;
- evaluating;
- comparing characters; and
- appreciating themes and literary styles.

The response is assessed according to the AO2, AO4 and AO3 criteria.

See Appendix 4: Unit A2 3 Content for Extended Writing.

#### Time: 1 hour

#### Assessment

Content	Learning Outcomes
Literary texts: either García Lorca: La Casa de Bernarda Alba or	<ul> <li>Students should be able to:</li> <li>demonstrate their ability to write in Spanish about the literary text they have studied;</li> <li>express information, facts and ideas in written Spanish and justify opinions through the study of a literary text;</li> </ul>
Muñoz Molina: El dueño del secreto	<ul> <li>demonstrate their capacity for critical and analytical thinking in Spanish by developing arguments and presenting views, opinions and justifications;</li> </ul>
or Sender: <i>Réquiem por un Campesino Español</i> or	<ul> <li>demonstrate a capacity for critical analysis, evaluation and comparison of characters, plot and themes, literary style and motivation; and</li> <li>apply grammatical structures accurately.</li> </ul>
Neruda: Veinte poemas de amor y una canción desesperada	

# 4 Scheme of Assessment

## 4.1 Assessment opportunities

Each unit is available for assessment in the summer of each year. It is possible to resit individual AS and A2 assessment units once and count the better result for each unit towards the AS or the A level qualification. Candidates' results for individual assessment units can count towards a qualification until we withdraw the specification.

## 4.2 Assessment objectives

There are **four** assessment objectives in total for this specification.

Candidates must:

- understand and respond, in speech and writing, to spoken language, drawn from a variety of sources, including face-to-face interaction (AO1);
- understand and respond, in speech and writing, to written language drawn from a variety of sources (AO2);
- manipulate the language accurately and appropriately, in spoken and written forms, using a range of lexis and structure (AO3); and
- show knowledge and understanding of and respond critically and analytically to different aspects of the culture and society of countries or communities where the language is spoken and demonstrate critical analysis and evaluation of works created in the language studied (AO4).

## 4.3 Assessment objective weightings

The table below sets out the assessment objective weightings for each assessment unit and the overall A level qualification:

Percentage Assessment Objective Weightings						
	A01	AO2	AO3	AO4	AS	A level
AS 1	4.0		3.2	4.8	12.0	12.0
AS 2	4.0	6.4	5.6		16.0	16.0
AS 3		5.6	3.2	3.2	12.0	12.0
A2 1	6.0		4.8	7.2		18.0
A2 2	6.0	9.6	8.4			24.0
A2 3		8.4	4.8	4.8		18.0
Total	20.0	30.0	30.0	20.0	40.0	100.0

## 4.4 Quality of written communication

In AS and A level Spanish, candidates must demonstrate their quality of written communication. They need to ensure that text is legible and that spelling, punctuation and grammar are accurate so that meaning is clear.

Quality of written communication is assessed in responses to questions and tasks that require extended writing in English [AS 2 translation into English (AO2) and A2 2 summary in English (AO2)].

## 4.5 Synoptic assessment at A2

The A2 assessment units include some synoptic assessment, which encourages candidates to develop their understanding of the subject as a whole. In our GCE Spanish, synoptic assessment involves:

- building on material from the AS units;
- bringing together and making connections between areas of knowledge and skills that they have explored throughout the course;
- following their own lines of enquiry and recording and observing from primary sources;
- demonstrating understanding and the ability to use advanced language skills in one or more tasks, in both oral and written form; and
- giving them the opportunity to select and present work that demonstrates their strengths from different areas.

## 4.6 Higher order thinking skills

The A2 assessment units provide opportunities to demonstrate higher order thinking skills by incorporating a wider range of question types to address different skills, for example:

- open-ended questions and questions that require candidates to draw inference and deduce meaning;
- questions that require candidates to summarise a Spanish text in English, within a set word limit;
- more demanding evaluative tasks;
- questions that require candidates to make more connections between sections of the specification; and
- extended writing, where appropriate.

## 4.7 Reporting and grading

We report the results of individual assessment units on a uniform mark scale that reflects the assessment weighting of each unit.

We award AS qualifications on a five grade scale from A to E, with A being the highest. We award A level qualifications on a six grade scale from A\* to E, with A\* being the highest. To determine candidates' grades, we add the uniform marks obtained in individual assessment units.

To be awarded an A\*, candidates need to achieve a grade A on their full A level qualification and at least 90 percent of the maximum uniform marks available for the A2 units. If candidates fail to attain a grade E, we report their results as unclassified (U).

The grades we award match the grade descriptions in Section 5 of this specification.

# **5 Grade Descriptions**

Grade descriptions are provided to give a general indication of the standards of achievement likely to have been shown by candidates awarded particular grades. The descriptions must be interpreted in relation to the content in the specification; they are not designed to define that content. The grade awarded depends in practice upon the extent to which the candidate has met the assessment objectives overall. Shortcomings in some aspects of candidates' performance in the assessment may be balanced by better performances in others.

The requirement for all AS and A level specifications to assess candidates' quality of written communication is met through AO2.

Grade	Descriptions
Grade AS Grade A	<ul> <li>For AO1, candidates characteristically:</li> <li>show a clear understanding of spoken language;</li> <li>use complex vocabulary and structures;</li> <li>understand the main points, details and points of view;</li> <li>develop ideas and viewpoints with justification;</li> <li>infer meaning effectively;</li> <li>respond fluently; and</li> <li>have accurate pronunciation.</li> <li>For AO2, candidates characteristically:</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>show a clear understanding of written texts;</li> <li>use complex language;</li> <li>understand the main points, details and viewpoints;</li> <li>infer meaning effectively;</li> <li>develop ideas and viewpoints with justification; and</li> <li>structure responses coherently.</li> <li>For AO3, candidates characteristically:</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>make effective use of a range of vocabulary and structures;</li> <li>use grammar, syntax and morphology accurately; and</li> <li>manipulate language appropriately.</li> <li>For AO4, candidates characteristically display a good understanding of the society and culture of Spanish-speaking countries or communities.</li> </ul>

#### AS Grade Descriptions

Grade	Descriptions
AS	For AO1, candidates characteristically:
Grade E	<ul> <li>show limited understanding of basic spoken language;</li> <li>experience difficulties with more complex vocabulary and structures;</li> <li>understand some basic and limited points of view;</li> <li>show a very limited ability to infer meaning;</li> <li>show clear influence of their first language; and</li> <li>convey some basic meaning.</li> </ul>
	For AO2, candidates characteristically:
	<ul> <li>show some limited understanding of basic texts;</li> <li>experience difficulties with more complex language;</li> <li>understand, to a limited extent, the main points and details;</li> <li>have a limited ability to infer meaning;</li> <li>convey some basic information;</li> <li>show clear influence of their first language; and</li> <li>have difficulty communicating factual information.</li> </ul>
	For AO3, candidates characteristically:
	<ul> <li>use a restricted range of vocabulary and structures;</li> <li>make frequent errors in grammar, syntax and morphology; and</li> <li>demonstrate a very limited ability to manipulate language.</li> </ul>
	For AO4, candidates characteristically display a very limited understanding of the society and culture of Spanish-speaking countries or communities.

#### A2 Grade Descriptions

Grade	Descriptions
A2	For AO1, candidates characteristically:
Grade A	<ul> <li>show a clear understanding of the spoken language;</li> <li>use complex vocabulary and structures;</li> <li>understand the main points, details and viewpoints;</li> <li>infer and transfer meaning effectively;</li> <li>develop, express and justify ideas effectively;</li> <li>respond fluently; and</li> <li>have accurate pronunciation.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>For AO2, candidates characteristically:</li> <li>show a clear understanding of written texts;</li> <li>use complex language;</li> <li>understand the main points, details and viewpoints;</li> <li>infer meaning effectively;</li> <li>develop and express ideas with justification; and</li> <li>structure responses coherently.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>For AO3, candidates characteristically:</li> <li>make effective use of a wide range of vocabulary and structures;</li> <li>use grammar, syntax and morphology accurately; and</li> <li>manipulate language appropriately.</li> <li>For AO4, candidates characteristically display a good understanding of the society and culture of Spanish-speaking countries or communities.</li> </ul>

Grade	Descriptions
A2	For AO1, candidates characteristically:
Grade E	<ul> <li>show limited understanding of spoken language;</li> <li>convey basic information;</li> <li>show hesitancy in response;</li> <li>have limited fluency and show influence of their first language; and</li> <li>have difficulty communicating factual information and expressing basic points of view.</li> </ul>
	For AO2, candidates characteristically:
	<ul> <li>show limited understanding of written texts;</li> <li>understand some basic points, details and viewpoints;</li> <li>demonstrate a limited ability to infer meaning;</li> <li>have difficulty communicating factual information; and</li> <li>show limited ability to structure responses.</li> </ul>
	For AO3, candidates characteristically:
	<ul> <li>use a restricted range of vocabulary and structures;</li> <li>have difficulty with more complex language;</li> <li>show influence of their first language in the use of grammar, syntax and morphology;</li> <li>make frequent linguistic errors; and</li> <li>show a very limited ability to manipulate language accurately.</li> </ul>
	For AO4, candidates characteristically display a very limited understanding of the society and culture of Spanish-speaking countries or communities.

# **6** Guidance on Assessment

There are six assessment units in this specification, three at AS level and three at A2:

- Unit AS 1: Speaking;
- Unit AS 2: Section A Listening, Section B Reading and Section C Use of Language;
- Unit AS 3: Extended Writing;
- Unit A2 1: Speaking;
- Unit A2 2: Section A Listening and Section B Reading; and
- Unit A2 3: Extended Writing.

The external assessment focuses on candidates' knowledge, understanding and analysis of the content of each unit.

## 6.1 Unit AS 1: Speaking

This unit has **two** elements:

- a **three** minute prepared presentation based on an AS theme related to an aspect of a Spanish-speaking country or community; and
- a general conversation of approximately **eight** minutes, focusing on AS themes.

An external visiting examiner conducts the assessment. Candidates deliver their presentation and conversation in Spanish.

Candidates are assessed on their:

- ability to engage with the external visiting examiner;
- knowledge and understanding of the chosen theme;
- grammatical accuracy when communicating orally; and
- fluency.

Candidates may carry out their presentation supported by artefacts or technology such as a PowerPoint presentation. Candidates can only use the wording from their Preparation Sheet in their PowerPoint presentation. The examination focuses solely on verbal communication and candidates' linguistic competence.

In the presentation, the external visiting examiner assesses candidates according to the AO4 criterion.

In the conversation, the external visiting examiner assesses candidates according to the AO1 and AO3 criteria.

## 6.2 Unit AS 2: Listening, Reading and Use of Language

This unit has **three** sections.

#### Section A – Listening

In the Listening tasks, candidates are assessed according to the AO1 criterion.

#### Section B – Reading

The Reading part of this section has a written passage with questions in Spanish, which the candidate answers in Spanish. Candidates are assessed according to the AO2 criterion.

Candidates translate a short passage of approximately 130 words from Spanish into English. Candidates are assessed according to the AO2 criterion.

#### Section C – Use of Language

Candidates complete a series of short grammatical and lexical exercises and translate short sentences from English into Spanish. Candidates are assessed according to the AO3 criterion.

## 6.3 Unit AS 3: Extended Writing

Candidates respond, in Spanish, to a set film or literary text that they have studied. Candidates respond to **one** question from the options provided. They are assessed according to the AO2, AO4 and AO3 criteria.

Candidates should demonstrate the ability to present views, opinions and justifications. They should also demonstrate knowledge of their chosen work.

## 6.4 Unit A2 1: Speaking

This unit has **two** elements:

- Candidates give a **one** minute introduction followed by a **five** minute discussion of their individual research project related to an aspect of a Spanish-speaking country or community. There are three prescribed options to choose from. Candidates are assessed according to the AO3 and AO4 criteria.
- Candidates have a **nine** minute general conversation, based on the themes studied at A2 level, which may also incorporate AS themes, where appropriate. Candidates are assessed according to the AO1 and AO3 criteria.

An external visiting examiner conducts the assessment. Candidates deliver their introduction and conversation in Spanish.

Candidates may support their introduction and discussion with artefacts, **but they** will only be marked on their verbal communication and linguistic competence.

Candidates are marked on their:

- ability to engage with the external visiting examiner;
- knowledge and understanding of the chosen theme;
- grammatical accuracy when communicating orally; and
- fluency.

## 6.5 Unit A2 2: Listening and Reading

This unit has **two** sections.

#### Section A – Listening

Candidates answer different types of questions about **two** passages based on the themes:

- Recording 1: candidates respond, in Spanish, to questions in Spanish.
- Recording 2: candidates respond, in English, to questions in English.

In the Listening tasks, candidates are assessed according to the AO1 criterion.

#### Section B – Reading

Candidates answer three questions based on three written texts. They:

- complete a gap-filling exercise in Spanish;
- respond in Spanish to questions in Spanish; and
- write a summary in English of approximately 100 words.

In these Reading tasks, candidates are assessed according to the AO2 criterion.

Candidates also translate a passage of approximately 130 words from English into Spanish.

In the translation task, candidates are assessed according to the AO3 criterion.

## 6.6 Unit A2 3: Extended Writing

Candidates write **one** essay in Spanish on a set literary text that they have studied. Candidates answer **one** question from the range of options provided. The response is assessed according to the AO2, AO4 and AO3 criteria.

Candidates should demonstrate the ability to develop arguments and present views, opinions and justifications. They should demonstrate knowledge of their chosen text and show a capacity for critical analysis of the question. They should be able to apply grammatical concepts and use a range of grammatical structures, incorporating vocabulary appropriate to the analysis and evaluation of a literary text.

# 7 Links and Support

## 7.1 Support

The following resources are available to support this specification:

- our Spanish microsite at <u>www.ccea.org.uk</u>
- specimen assessment materials;
- suggested presentation topics;
- GCE Spanish Speaking Instructions and Guidance; and
- guidance notes for teachers.

We also intend to provide:

- past papers and mark schemes;
- Chief Examiner's reports;
- support material;
- schemes of work;
- a resource list;
- exemplification of standards;
- centre support visits; and
- support days for teachers.

## 7.2 Curriculum objectives

This specification supports centres to build on the broader Northern Ireland Curriculum objectives to develop the young person:

- as an individual;
- as a contributor to society; and
- as a contributor to the economy and environment.

It can contribute to meeting the requirements of the Northern Ireland Entitlement Framework at post-16 and the provision of a broad and balanced curriculum.

#### **Curriculum Progression from Key Stage 4**

This specification builds on learning from Key Stage 4 and gives students opportunities to develop their subject knowledge and understanding further.

Students will also have opportunities to continue to develop the **Cross-Curricular Skills** and the **Thinking Skills and Personal Capabilities** shown on the next page. The extent of this development depends on the teaching and learning methodology the teacher uses.

#### **Cross-Curricular Skills**

- Communication:
  - Talking and Listening
  - Reading
  - Writing
- Using Mathematics
- Using ICT

#### **Thinking Skills and Personal Capabilities**

- Problem Solving
- Working with Others
- Self-Management

For further guidance on the skills and capabilities in this subject, please refer to the supporting schemes of work.

## 7.3 Examination entries

Entry codes for this subject and details on how to make entries are available on our Qualifications Administration Handbook microsite, which you can access at <u>www.ccea.org.uk</u>

Alternatively, you can telephone our Examination Entries, Results and Certification team using the contact details provided.

## 7.4 Equality and inclusion

We have considered the requirements of equality legislation in developing this specification and designed it to be as free as possible from ethnic, gender, religious, political and other forms of bias.

GCE qualifications often require the assessment of a broad range of competences. This is because they are general qualifications that prepare students for a wide range of occupations and higher level courses.

During the development process, an external equality panel reviewed the specification to identify any potential barriers to equality and inclusion. Potential barriers for some students include:

- Speaking, for some students with a speech impairment;
- Listening, for some students with a hearing impairment, that is, those who cannot lip read (British or Irish sign language may not be allowed, as that would not involve communication in the foreign language); and
- Reading, for some students with visual impairment (that is, those who cannot read Braille). These students may not have the text read out to them, as that would involve testing the different competence of listening.

These competences are included because:

- the GCE is a holistic qualification which must continue to assess all four skills to meet all its assessment objectives; and
- removal of a competence may penalise students for whom that competence is a strength.

Modified visual and hearing papers are available on request.

Where appropriate, we have considered measures to support access and mitigate barriers.

We can make reasonable adjustments for students with disabilities to reduce barriers to accessing assessments. For this reason, very few students will have a complete barrier to any part of the assessment.

It is important to note that where access arrangements are permitted, they must not be used in any way that undermines the integrity of the assessment. You can find information on reasonable adjustments in the Joint Council for Qualifications document Access Arrangements and Reasonable Adjustments: General and Vocational Qualifications, available at <u>www.jcq.org.uk</u>

## 7.5 Contact details

If you have any queries about this specification, please contact the relevant CCEA staff member or department:

- Specification Support Officer: Joan Jennings (telephone: (028) 9026 1200, extension 2552, email: jjennings@ccea.org.uk)
- Subject Officer with overall responsibility: Seán McNally (telephone: (028) 9026 1200 extension 2325, email: <u>smcnally@ccea.org.uk</u>)
- Subject Officer: Eileen Lisk (telephone (028) 9026 1200, extension 2255, email: <u>elisk@ccea.org.uk</u>)
- Examination Entries, Results and Certification (telephone: (028) 9026 1262, email: <u>entriesandresults@ccea.org.uk</u>)
- Examiner Recruitment (telephone: (028) 9026 1243, email: <u>appointments@ccea.org.uk</u>)
- Distribution (telephone: (028) 9026 1242, email: <u>cceadistribution@ccea.org.uk</u>)
- Support Events Administration (telephone: (028) 9026 1401, email: <u>events@ccea.org.uk</u>)
- Information Section (including Freedom of Information requests) (telephone: (028) 9026 1200, email: <u>info@ccea.org.uk</u>)
- Moderation (telephone: (028) 9026 1200, extension 2236, email: <u>moderation@ccea.org.uk</u>)
- Business Assurance (Complaints and Appeals Manager: Heather Clarke) (telephone: (028) 9026 1244, email: <u>hclarke@ccea.org.uk</u>).

## **Unit AS 1 Sample Content for Presentation**

The presentation is based on AS themes related to aspects of Spanish-speaking countries or communities. It is assessed according to the AO4 criterion. The presentation topic **must not** relate to the A2 1 topic or the set works studied for AS 3 and A2 3.

#### Some sample presentation titles:

- Un monumento histórico, for example El Valle de Los Caídos, La Alhambra
- La gastronomía regional y cómo refleja la diversidad del país
- La importancia de los abuelos en la economía de España
- La familia numerosa ya no existe en España
- El desempleo juvenil
- El fenómeno de "los Ni-Nis"
- El papel del fútbol en la sociedad española
- Real Madrid y Barça: ¿por qué tanta rivalidad?
- Un director de cine español
- Juegos nacionales como la pelota o el frontón
- Los toros: ¿celebración o matanza?
- Un pintor español/un cuadro de un pintor, for example Guernica, Las Meninas, or El Dos de Mayo
- Una fiesta regional, for example La Semana Santa en Sevilla o Moros y Cristianos
- El desarrollo del turismo verde
- Beneficios y desventajas del turismo en España
- Un pintor hispano-americano, for example Kahlo, Rivera
- El baile y la música de América del Sur
- Aspectos de las civilizaciones hispano-americanas, for example Maya, Azteca, Inca
- El efecto de la recesión sobre la juventud
- El regionalismo/las campañas para la independencia
- España y sus inmigrantes

## **Unit AS 3 Content for Extended Writing**

This unit is based on set films or literary texts. Each work has two question options. Candidates respond to **one** question only in Spanish.

#### Film:

- Zambrano: Solas (first release 2001)
- Cuerda: La lengua de las mariposas (first release 1999)
- Mañas: El Bola (first release 2000)

#### Literary text:

• Esquivel: Como agua para chocolate (first publication 1989)

## **Unit A2 1 Content for Introduction and Discussion**

The introduction and discussion elements of the A2 Speaking examination are based on an individual research project on an aspect of a Spanish-speaking country or community. This **must not** relate to the topic for AS 1 or the set works for AS 3 and A2 3.

The options for the introduction and discussion elements are:

#### Culture

Candidates study a cultural aspect of a Spanish-speaking country or community, for example the arts, music, sport, folklore, festivals or traditions.

or

#### **Historical period**

Candidates study a historical period from the twentieth century of a Spanishspeaking country or community.

or

#### Region

Candidates study a region of a Spanish-speaking country or community.

## **Unit A2 3 Content for Extended Writing**

This unit is based on set literary texts. Each literary text has two question options. Candidates respond to **one** question only in Spanish.

The literary texts are:

- García Lorca: La Casa de Bernarda Alba (first publication 1945)
- Muñoz Molina: El dueño del secreto (first publication 2007)
- Neruda: Veinte poemas de amor y una canción desesperada (first publication 1924)
- Sender: Réquiem por un Campesino Español (first publication 1953)

#### AS and A Level Grammar and Structures List AS grammar and structures list

Part(s) of Speech	Examples
Nouns	Gender Singular and plural forms Plural of male/female pairs (e.g. <i>los Reyes</i> ) Affective suffixes (R)
Articles	Definite and indefinite <i>El</i> with feminine nouns beginning with stressed <i>a</i> ( <i>el agua</i> ) <i>Lo</i> + adjective
Adjectives	Agreement Position Apocopation (e.g. gran, buen, mal, primer) Comparative and superlative (e.g. más fuerte; mejor; peor, mayor, menor) Use of adjectives as nouns (e.g. una triste, la roja, las norteamericanas) Demonstrative (e.g. este, ese, aquel) Indefinite (e.g. alguno, cualquiera, otro) Possessive (weak and strong forms) (e.g. mi/mío) Interrogative and exclamatory (e.g. ¿cuánto?/jcuánto!, etc., including use of ¿qué?/jqué!) Relative (cuyo) (R)
Numerals	Cardinal (e.g. <i>uno, dos</i> ) Ordinal 1–10 (e.g. <i>primero, segundo</i> ) Agreement (e.g. <i>cuatrocientas chicas</i> ) Expression of time and date
Adverbs	Formation of adverbs in <i>-mente</i> Comparative and superlative (e.g. <i>más despacio</i> ) Use of adjectives as adverbs (e.g. <i>rápido, claro</i> ) Adjectives as equivalents of English adverbs (e.g. <i>Salió</i> <i>contenta</i> ) Interrogative (e.g. ¿cómo?, ¿cuándo?, ¿dónde?)
Quantifiers/intensifiers	(e.g. muy, bastante, poco, mucho)

Part(s) of Speech	Examples
Pronouns	Subject Object: direct and indirect; use of <i>se</i> for <i>le</i> ( <i>s</i> ); 'redundant' use of indirect object (e.g. <i>Dale un beso a tu papá</i> ) Reflexive Unstressed/stressed forms (e.g. <i>me/mî</i> ) Position and order Relative ( <i>que</i> , <i>quien</i> , <i>el que</i> , <i>el cual</i> ) Demonstrative ( <i>este</i> , <i>ese</i> , <i>aquel</i> ; <i>esto</i> , <i>eso</i> , <i>aquello</i> ) Indefinite (e.g. <i>algo</i> , <i>alguien</i> ) Possessive (e.g. <i>el mío</i> , <i>la mía</i> ). Expression of possession by the use of the indirect object pronoun ( <i>Se le rompió el brazo</i> ) must also be included. Interrogative
Verbs	Regular conjugations of - <i>ar</i> , - <i>er</i> and - <i>ir</i> verbs, including radical-changing (e.g. <i>recordar/recuerdo</i> , <i>pedir/pido</i> ) and orthographic-changing (e.g. <i>abrazar/abracé</i> ) verbs, in all tenses and moods, finite and non-finite forms Regular and irregular verbs, in all tenses and moods, finite and non-finite forms Agreement of verb and subject Use of <i>hay que</i> in all tenses Use of tenses Present Preterite Imperfect Future Conditional Perfect Future perfect Conditional perfect Pluperfect Use of the infinitive, the gerund and the past participle Verbal paraphrases and their uses. These include but are not limited to the following: <i>ir a</i> + infinitive <i>estar</i> + gerund <i>acabar de</i> + infinitive <i>llevar</i> + gerund <i>ir</i> + gerund (R) <i>venir</i> + gerund (R) Use of the subjunctive Commands

Part(s) of Speech	Examples	
Verbs (cont.)	Conditional sentences After conjunctions of time After para que, sin que In relative clauses (R) After other subordinating conjunctions (R) With verbs and verbal expressions of wishing, commanding, influencing, emotional reaction, doubt, denial, possibility, probability (R) Sequence of tense in indirect speech and other subordinate clauses Voice Use of the reflexive as a passive (e.g. <i>El puente se</i> <i>construyó para unir a las comunidades</i> ) Use of the reflexive to express an impersonal subject (e.g. ¿ <i>Cómo se llega a la estación?</i> ) Use of <i>ser</i> + past participle 'Nuance' reflexive verbs (e.g. <i>caerse, pararse</i> ) Modes of address ( <i>tú, usted; vosotros/ustedes; vos</i> (R)) Constructions with verbs Verbs followed directly by an infinitive (e.g. <i>querer, poder</i> ) Verbs followed by a preposition plus an infinitive or noun phrase (e.g. <i>insistir en, negarse a</i> ) Verbs followed by a gerund (e.g. <i>seguir</i> )	
	Verbs of perception (e.g. <i>Vi asfaltar la calle</i> ) Uses of <i>ser</i> and <i>estar</i>	
Prepositions	All prepositions, both simple (e.g. <i>bajo</i> ) and complex (e.g. <i>encima de</i> ) 'Personal' <i>a</i> Discrimination of <i>por</i> and <i>para</i>	
Conjunctions	Co-ordinating conjunctions (e.g. <i>y</i> , <i>o</i> , <i>pero</i> ) Subordinating conjunctions. These include but are not limited to the following: Cause ( <i>porque</i> ) Purpose ( <i>para que</i> ) Proviso ( <i>con tal que</i> ) Supposition ( <i>a no ser que</i> ) Time ( <i>cuando</i> ) Concession ( <i>aunque</i> ) Use of <i>que</i> to introduce a clause (e.g. <i>¡Cuidado, que se va</i> <i>a quemar la tortilla!</i> ) (R)	

Part(s) of Speech	Examples
Word order	Subject following verb (Ha llegado el profesor; Me gustan las patatas) Focalisation (Tú ¿qué opinas?; A Cristiano le odian) (R)
Other constructions	Time expressions with <i>hace/hacía</i> and <i>desde hace/hacía</i> Cleft sentences ( <i>Fue en Madrid donde nos conocimos</i> ) Comparative constructions. These include but are not limited to the following: <i>tan como,</i> etc. <i>más que,</i> etc. <i>Tiene más dinero de lo que creía</i> (R) Indirect speech
Discourse markers	(e.g. Es que, Por ejemplo, Ahora bien)
Fillers	(e.g. pues, bueno)

The examples in italics are indicative, not exclusive. For structures marked (R), receptive knowledge only is required.

#### A level grammar and structures list

All grammar and structures listed for AS level, plus:

Part(s) of Speech	Examples	
Adjectives	Relative ( <i>cuyo</i> )	
Verbs	Use of the subjunctive In relative clauses After other subordinating conjunctions With verbs and verbal expressions of wishing, commanding, influencing, emotional reaction, doubt, denial, possibility, probability	
Conjunctions	Use of <i>que</i> to introduce a clause ( <i>¡Cuidado, que se va a quemar la tortilla!</i> )	
Other constructions	Comparative constructions <i>Tiene más dinero de lo que creía</i> Expression of concession other than by <i>aunque (por muy</i> adjective <i>que, por mucho que</i> ) (R)	

The examples in italics are indicative, not exclusive. For structures marked (R), receptive knowledge only is required.



© CCEA 2016

**COUNCIL** FOR THE **CURRICULUM, EXAMINATIONS** AND **ASSESSMENT** 29 Clarendon Road, Clarendon Dock, Belfast BT1 3BG Tel: +44 (0)28 9026 1200 Fax: +44 (0)28 9026 1234 Email: info@ccea.org.uk Web: www.ccea.org.uk

